1950

## State of Utah v. Fred Matteri : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

During the late afternoon of Friday, May 6th, 1949, the body of a dead man, partly submerged in water, later identified as Levi P. Delk, was discovered by two minors in Little Cottonwood Creek, in the vicinity of Pepper's Hill, Salt Lake County, Utah. An examination of the body by the coroner disclosed a laceration about seven inches in length on the back of the left side of the head, and numerous bruises and abrasions located on the forehead, nose, right eye, right knee, and left leg (Tr. 88, 126).

The body of the dead man was dressed in a khaki colored shirt, a brown suit coat, a pair of shorts, and a pair of shoes (Tr. 121). The trousers and socks were not on the body (Tr. 124, 125). An examination of the clothing disclosed a bank book bearing the name of Levi P. Delk, army discharge papers, and other miscellaneous papers in the inside coat pocket (Tr. 124). In the outside coat pocket, there was a key to the ignition switch of an automobile later identified as the key to the Willy's panel truck (Exhibit "H," Tr. 125) owned by the deceased, and also a small vial containing an unidentified liquid. This vial was later destroyed when dropped by a deputy in the sheriff's office.

No definite time was established as to when the deceased met his death (Tr. 91), and the testimony as to how the deceased died was very conjectural in nature, the doctor who examined the body merely having ventured an opinion that the head-wound described above was inflicted by a blunt instrument of some sort (Tr. 90). But there was no evidence of any blunt instrument, or for that matter, of any kind of an instrument which might have caused the wound.

About ten o'clock A. M. on Saturday, April 30th, 1949, a person, later identified as Fred Matteri, the Defendant, appeared before a notary public in Salt Lake City, Utah, and, representing himself to be Levi P. Delk, signed a certificate of title to a Willy's panel truck, identified at the trial as owned by Delk (Tr. 167). Later, the same morning, the Defendant, still representing himself to be Levi P. Delk, sold the said Willy's panel truck to Arch Browning, Inc., a car dealer of Salt Lake City, Utah (Tr. 207-212). No ignition key to the

truck was delivered to the car dealer at the time of the sale, and it was disclosed at the trial that the ignition wires had been crossed to make possible the operation of the truck without the key (Tr. 218, 221).

Between the 1st and 3rd days of May, 1949, the Defendant attempted to sell a Waltham pocket watch to his fellow workers, which watch was identified as once having belonged to Delk, and was last seen in Delk's possession in February, 1949 (Tr. 249). Unable to make the sale, the Defendant later pawned it to the National Loan Company of Salt Lake City, Utah, for the sum of \$7.50. Matteri used his own name when he pawned the watch, which had a chain on it at the time of pawning (Tr. 237, 246). The chain never was positively identified as owned by Delk at any time (Tr. 250, 251).

There was evidence that a gold-plated corn cutter, at one time used by Delk as a watch fob (Tr. 250, 253), was found in an open field some distance to the south of the building which contained the three apartments in the tourist park (Tr. 294). The corn cutter fob had been taken from among 1800 that Delk had made up for sale to his patients, and was specially gold-plated for his personal use.

The evidence showed that Mr. Delk, during the month of April, 1949, had occupied parking space in a tourist and trailer park at 3115 South State Street, Salt Lake County, owned and operated by Mr. and Mrs. L. A. Christensen. At the same time, Mr. and Mrs. Matteri and family occupied a tourist apartment in the same court, Mrs. Matteri and the children having moved away about April 20th, leaving Matteri there alone. The apartment occupied by Matteri was the eastern unit of a build-

ing containing three units, the center and the west units being unfinished and unoccupied. The building faced south, and the southwest corner of it was approximately 65 feet southeast of the space occupied by Delk with his truck (Exhibit "Q").

The last Mr. Delk was seen alive was about 5 or 6 p.m. on Friday, April 29th, when he came into the tourist park in his truck, and parked it in the rented space. He was not missed by Mr. and Mrs. Christensen until Sunday, as they understood he was going fishing (Tr. 140, 180, 203).

A pair of glasses identified as belonging to Mr. Delk was found in front of the center apartment of the building containing the three units (Tr. 180). The said center apartment was examined on May 9th by representatives of the Sheriff's office, at which time two spots on the floor, reddish brown in color, appearing like blood, were found. One spot was dried, and the other was still moist, being mixed with what definitely appeared to be vomit, as determined by the smell. Shavings, sawdust, papers and other debris were on the floor. The apartment had markings also on the floor, indicating that a struggle of some kind has taken place therein (Tr. 259-297).

There was a total lack of evidence connecting Matteri, personally, with Delk, personally, between the time Delk was last seen alive, and the time his body was discovered in the creek. No weapon was discovered to connect up the Defendant. Matteri's fingerprints were not found on the doorknob nor anywhere else in the center apartment which the State contended was the scene of the alleged homicide (Tr. 338, 345). No evidence of blood was found on Matteri's clothing. Also, no evidence was produced of trouble between Matteri and



Delk of any kind, such as quarrels, ill-will, threats, bad feelings, or revenge.

On May 8th, Mr. Matteri was arrested and charged with murder in the first degree. In the bill of particulars (Tr. 12) furnished the Defendant by the State, Defendant was charged, first, with having killed Delk with deliberation, premeditation, and with malice aforethought, and second, with having killed Delk in the course of committing a robbery, or an attempted robbery, to which the Defendant pleaded "not guilty."

After the State closed its case at the trial, the Defendant moved for a dismissal of the first degree murder charge, for insufficient evidence. This, the court denied (Tr. 382, 384).

The defense then rested, and moved for a directed verdict of not guilty on the first degree murder charge, and the included charges of murder in the second degree and voluntary manslaughter. The motion was denied (Tr. 386).

The jury was instructed by the Court, the defense taking exception to the Court's refusal to give Defendant's Proposed Instruction No. XII (Tr. 389). The State and defense made their arguments to the jury, which thereupon retired to consider its verdict. After several hours of deliberation, the jury returned for further instructions, the defense objecting to additional comments made by the trial court to the jury at that time (Tr. 391-393). After a short deliberation, the jury returned with a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree, with a recommendation of life imprisonment (Tr. 54).

The defense then moved for a new trial, which motion was denied (Tr. 397). The Court, disregarding the recom-

mendation of leniency made by the jury, sentenced the Defendant to be executed by shooting (Tr. 403).

## STATEMENT OF ERRORS

1. The trial court erred in denying Defendant's motion to dismiss the charge of first degree murder, for the reason that the State did not produce sufficient evidence to sustain the charge.

2. The trial court erred in denying Defendant's motion to instruct the jury to find the Defendant not guilty of first degree murder, for the reason that the State did not introduce sufficient evidence of first degree murder to submit to the jury.

3. The trial court erred in denying Defendant's motion to instruct the jury to find the Defendant not guilty of second degree murder, for the reason that the State did not introduce sufficient evidence of second degree murder to submit to the jury.

4. The trial court erred in refusing to give the jury Defendant's proposed instruction No. XII (Tr. 31), and in giving in lieu thereof, the third paragraph of its Instruction No. 7 (Tr. 36), contrary to the provisions of Section 105-32-5, Utah Code Annotated 1943.

5. The trial court erred in giving the jury Instruction No. 8 (Tr. 36, 37), for the reason that said instruction was a definition of murder, and there was no evidence of murder to submit to the jury.

6. The trial court erred in giving the jury Instruction No. 9 (Tr. 37, 38), for the reason that said instruction defined first and second degree murder, and there was no evidence of either to submit to the jury.

7. The trial court erred in giving the jury Instruction No. 10 (Tr. 38, 39), for the reason that said instruction set forth the elements of first degree murder as they pertain to this case, and there was insufficient evidence of the same to submit to the jury.

8. The trial court erred in giving the jury Instruction No. 11 (Tr. 39), for the reason that said instruction set forth the elements of second degree murder as they pertain to this case, and there was insufficient evidence of the same to submit to the jury.

9. The trial court erred in commenting to the jury, when they sought additional instructions, that he had means of investigating the Defendant, or any story the Defendant told or any statement the Defendant made, and that the court's investigation would determine whether the court would impose a life sentence or the death penalty (Tr. 391-393), for the reason that the jury was misled thereby.

10. The trial court erred in denying Defendant's motion for a new trial, which refusal is contrary to law.

11. The trial court abused its discretion in ignoring the jury's recommendation of a life sentence, and in sentencing the Defendant to be executed.

## ARGUMENT NO. I

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER AGAINST DEFENDANT.

The information in this case charges that the Defendant, Fred Matteri, committed the crime of murder in the first degree, by murdering Levi P. Delk. The Bill of Particulars (Tr. 12) furnished the Defendant by the State reads as follows:

"That at the time and place alleged in the Information, the defendant willfully, deliberately and with the intent to kill Levi P. Delk, and with malice aforethought and premeditation killed Levi P. Delk by striking the said Levi P. Delk over the head with a blunt instrument, the nature and description of which is unknown to the District Attorney:

"That at the time and place alleged in the Information, the defendant killed Levi P. Delk while the said Defendant was perpetrating or attempting to perpetrate the crime of robbery in that the said defendant at said time and place was feloniously taking or attempting to take personal property in the possession of or in the immediate person of Levi P. Delk, that the said taking or attempting to take said property was against the will of the said Levi P. Delk and was accomplished or attempted to be accomplished by means of force and fear; that said personal property consisted of a truck, a watch and other personal property, the exact nature and description of which is unknown to the District Attorney."

At the conclusion of the State's case, the Defendant moved that the charge of first degree murder be dismissed, which motion was denied (Tr. 382-384). After the Defendant rested,

the Defendant moved that the jury be directed to find a verdict of not guilty of murder in the first degree, which motion also was denied by the Court (Tr. 386). However, even the Court was convinced that the State had not made out a case of murder in the course of a robbery or attempted robbery, as set out in the second paragraph of the bill of particulars quoted above (Tr. 383), and submitted the case to the jury solely on the charge of first degree murder as set forth in the first paragraph of said bill of particulars as above contained.

In the instant case, to make out murder in the first degree, it is necessary that the State prove, among other elements disputed by the Defendant and dealt with elsewhere in this argument, that the Defendant killed Delk with malice aforethought, that the killing was deliberate and with premeditation, and the result of a specific intention on the part of Defendant to kill Delk. If the State failed to prove any one of the foregoing elements, then no first degree murder charge was made out. Please see *State vs. Russell*, a Utah case, 145 Pac. (2) 1003.

The Defendant contends, however, that there was absolutely no evidence of premeditation, deliberation, nor of malice aforethought, nor of a specific intent on the part of the Defendant to kill Delk, nor of other elements of first degree murder, and that as a result, the State failed to make out its case.

(A) When we speak of "deliberation," "premeditation," and "malice aforethought," and "specific intent," we are speaking of the state of mind, the mental attitude or intent of the accused formed prior to the commission of a homicide. Not

being able to probe the mind itself, such state of mind must of necessity be determined by actions of the accused.

In *State vs. Russell*, supra, this Court very ably discussed the state of mind as related to first and second degree murder, and distinguished between the two. This Court, in that case, held that malice aforethought, being an essential element in murder at the common law, was adopted by our criminal code as a necessary element, but that in order to make out murder in the first degree, the killing itself, not merely the malice, must be with deliberation and premeditation. The lack of deliberation and premeditation in the killing itself, the other elements of murder being present, would reduce the homicide to second degree murder.

In the *Russell* case supra, this Court said:

“ . . . The terms *premeditation* and *aforethought* both mean to think out, plan or design beforehand. Some courts make a slight distinction between those terms and the term *deliberation*, holding that it requires more calmness of mind and coolness of blood for deliberation than merely to premeditate and think out beforehand, but other courts refuse to make such a distinction.”

The *Russell* case, in speaking of murder in the first degree requiring a “willful, deliberate, malicious and premeditated killing,” says:

“This simply means that the fatal blow must be struck after deliberately and premeditatedly forming a specific intention or design to kill.”

These are universal principles, and are subscribed to by 1 Warren on Homicide, Sections 70 and 71; 1 Wharton's Criminal Law, 12th Ed., Sections 506, 507, 515, 516, 517, and Section 420 at page 631; together with many other references contained in the Russell case.

Keeping in mind that in this case, we are concerned with the state of mind of Matteri before and at the time the alleged fatal blow was struck (there being no evidence that Matteri struck the fatal blow), what evidence is there of such a state of mind? The state of mind is determined by the actions of the accused prior to, and at the time of the commission of the act with which it is connected. In searching the record, we find absolutely no acts of Matteri's prior to the alleged homicide which show any state of mind whatsoever in relation to Delk. There were no acts of preparation, no securing or selecting of weapons, no lying in wait; there were no boasts, no threats, no arguments, nor other difficulties between the accused and Delk.

In substance, the evidence was that Delk was found dead with a gash on the back of his head several days after the alleged killing; Matteri was in possession of Delk's truck and his watch, he having sold the truck by representing himself as Delk, and having pawned the watch in his own name. But these are events which occurred *after* the alleged homicide, and could not possibly show any state of mind whatsoever that may have existed many hours earlier. These facts show neither premeditation, deliberation, malice aforethought, nor specific intent; for that matter, neither do they show heat of passion, reckless disregard of life, negligence, nor self-defense. In fact,

it is impossible to conceive of a case wherein there could be less evidence of a condition of the mind at a given time.

The only actions of an accused after an alleged homicide which would show a state of mind existing at or before the killing, would be statements or confessions of such accused. These are totally lacking in this case.

The absence of evidence of the state of mind of one accused of murder in the first degree is discussed in *People vs. Howard*, a California case, 295 Pac. 333. In that case, there was evidence of a homicide implicating the Defendant, but except for a purported confession, there was no evidence of the state of mind of the accused. The Court said:

"To be murder of the first degree, under our statute, the killing must be premeditated, except when done in the perpetration of certain felonies; that is to say, the unlawful killing must be accompanied with a deliberate and clear intent to take life. If the act be preceded by, and be the result of, a concurrence of will, deliberation and intent, the crime of first-degree murder is proved. *People vs. Bellon*, 180 Cal. 706, 182 P. 420. When the killing is proved to have been committed by the defendant, and nothing further is shown, the presumption of law is that it was malicious and an act of murder; but in such a case the verdict should be murder of the second degree, and not murder of the first degree. *People vs. Knapp*, 71 Cal. 1, 6, 11 Pac. 793; *People vs. Ford*, 85 Cal. App. 258, 263, 258 P. 1111.

"In the present case, the prosecution relied principally on the defendant's confession to prove his connection with the



offense. If the confession be disregarded, *the record is entirely destitute of evidence tending to establish the circumstances and conditions actually existing just prior to and at the time of the striking of the fatal blow.* (Italics ours). If, as urged by the people, the jury in weighing and considering the evidence might properly reject as untrue that portion of the confession wherein defendant charged the decedent with having been the aggressor in a quarrel which led up to the homicide, there remains no evidence from which it might reasonably be deduced that the killing was the result of a willful, deliberate, and premeditated intent to kill. We do not question the propriety of the jury's action in rejecting any portion of the defendant's evidence or confession which to it was unworthy of belief. However, if it be assumed that this was done in the present case, there is a dearth of evidence tending to show the conditions as they existed at the time of the homicide, and from which it might reasonably be held that the murder was, in fact, willful, premeditated, and intentional. In this regard, the state failed to satisfy the burden of proof."

Applying the rule of the Howard case here, "the record is entirely destitute of evidence tending to establish the circumstances and conditions actually existing just prior to and at the time of the striking of the fatal blow."

Thus, under the law as contained in the Russell and Howard cases, the State in the instant case produced no evidence whatsoever of premeditation, deliberation, malice aforethought or specific intent to kill Delk, the lack of any one of these elements being fatal to the State's case. Consequently, there was nothing to submit to the jury insofar as first degree mur-

der was concerned, and the trial court should have either dismissed that charge, or directed the jury to bring in verdict of not guilty to such charge.

(B) There is another criterion which definitely rules out first degree murder in this case.

Section 103-28-2, Utah Code Annotated 1943, provides that malice may be express or it may be implied. In 1 Warren on Homicide, paragraph 67, at page 276, express and implied malice are discussed as they relate to first degree murder. Therein, the author states the law to be that express malice is absolutely essential to murder in the first degree, implied malice reducing the crime to murder in the second degree.

In paragraph 68, Warren defines *express* malice in this manner:

"Express malice is where the killing is the product of a sedate deliberate mind and formed design. It exists when there is manifested a deliberate intention unlawfully to take the life of a fellow creature, or to do him some great bodily harm from which death might result . . . A design to kill, or to inflict serious bodily harm, endangering life, though without lawful excuse or justification, and though fully formed and fixed in the mind, is not express malice without such design having an inception and origin in a sedate, deliberate mind."

Then Warren defines "a sedate, deliberate mind" as a "mental condition sufficiently composed, calm, and undisturbed to admit of reflection on the design to kill, or to inflict bodily harm endangering life, and to comprehend the nature and probably consequences of the act designed."

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