1950

State of Utah v. Fred Matteri : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant was tried before a jury in the Third District Court on a charge of murder. From a verdict and judgment of guilty of murder in the first degree, and sentence thereon, he has appealed.

Plaintiff agrees, generally, with the statement of facts as incorporated in the brief of appellant. But inasmuch as the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict has been questioned, and such sufficiency has thus become a point of law, it

will be necessary to include in the argument a portion of the evidence produced by the state.

POINTS

1. The evidence was sufficient to support a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree.

2. In instructing the jury concerning the degrees of murder, and reasonable doubt as to degree, the court was not required to use the exact language of 105-32-5 Utah Code Annotated 1943.

3. It is not prejudicial error for a court to inform the jury of the steps the court may take in deciding whether to follow a mercy recommendation.

4. There is nothing in the record to show that the court abused its discretion in refusing to follow the mercy recommendation of the jury.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

There is no quarrel with defendant's cited cases insofar as they are used to indicate the elements of first and second degree murder. Nor can we take issue with the statement that first degree murder requires a showing—except in specified instances

—that the defendant killed the deceased with malice aforethought, deliberation and premeditation. State v. Russell, 106 Utah 116, 145 P. 2d 1003; State v. Trujillo (Utah) No. 7269.

Murder is defined, and its elements set out, by statute in Utah. The statutory provisions are found in 103-28-1, 2 and 3 Utah Code Annotated 1943:

“Murder is the unlawful killing of a human being with malice aforethought.” (103-28-1).

“Such malice may be express or implied. It is express when there is manifested a deliberate intention unlawfully to take the life of a fellow creature. It is implied when no considerable provocation appears, or when the circumstances attending the killing show an abandoned and malignant heart.” (103-28-2)

“Every murder perpetrated by poison, lying in wait or any other kind of willful, deliberate, malicious and premeditated killing; or committed in the perpetration of, or attempt to perpetrate, any arson, rape, burglary or robbery; or perpetrated from a premeditated design unlawfully to effect the death of any human being other than the one who is killed; or perpetrated by any act greatly dangerous to the lives of others and evidencing a depraved mind, regardless of human life;—is murder in the first degree. Any other homicide committed under such circumstances as would have constituted murder at common law is murder in the second degree.” (103-28-3)

These sections have been analyzed by this court in the two cases cited above [State v. Russell, 106 Utah 116, 145 P. 2d 1003; State v. Trujillo (Utah) No. 7269]

In the court below the case was submitted to the jury on

the theory that the evidence might show a "willful, deliberate, malicious and premeditated killing" only. There was no instruction concerning poison, or killing while committing one of the designated felonies. There is no pretense that the defendant was attempting to kill any person other than Delk, or that he was behaving in a depraved manner toward a group of persons. As far as the sufficiency of the evidence is concerned, then, the question is resolved into one of whether there is enough evidence to support a verdict that the defendant willfully, deliberately, maliciously and premeditatedly killed Levi P. Delk. The defense contends that the evidence indicates "no acts of preparation, no securing of weapons, no lying in wait," "no boasts, no threats, no arguments, nor other difficulties between the accused and Delk."

It is admitted that if any of the elements above listed had appeared the state's case would have been strengthened. But that argument goes to what evidence *might have been used*, if available, to convict the defendant. Our problem is concerned with the sufficiency of the evidence actually presented.

The record of the proceedings discloses the following evidence and testimony of facts and circumstances upon which the jury could rely in reaching its verdict:

When the deceased was found, he had been brutally beaten. There were several injuries on the body, the most severe of which was located on the left side of the *rear* part of the head. At that point there was an "irregular laceration of the scalp from the top of the head down below the left ear"—about 7

inches in length. The posterior part of the left side of the skull was broken in several places. On the front of the skull there was a laceration three quarters of an inch long which extended inward to the bone. The throat was punctured, apparently with a sharp instrument and after the death of deceased. Abrasions and contusions were found on various parts of the body. On the right side of the forehead there was a bruise of two inches diameter. Also on the forehead were three abrasions, "two which measured one inch in diameter each and a third which was one and a half inches long and about one-eighth inch in width." There was another abrasion on the nose. On the right knee there was one large abrasion and eight linear abrasions which were one-half to one inch long. An abrasion was found on the anterior part of the left leg, surrounded by an area of hemorrhage in the tissues. (R. 86-89).

An expert testified that the death of Delk resulted from the injury on the back of the head, that is, the seven-inch laceration and skull fracture (R. 90). This was caused by a blow with a "blunt object, possibly with a sharp or jagged edge." The blow must have been struck with great force (R. 90), and the injury was such that it would have necessarily been fatal (R. 91). The force of the blow was so great that it could not have resulted from a fall to the ground after a blow to the chin. To cause such an injury by falling, the fall would have to have been from a great height (R. 97, 98). It was improbable that a blunt instrument made the laceration on the forehead (R. 98).

The body of deceased was found by two small boys on

May 6 while they were playing along Little Cottonwood creek (R. 110). The body was in the creek, and about half under water (R. 115), but death did not result from drowning (R. 90).

From the facts and circumstances surrounding the killing, the nature and number of the wounds, the location of the body outside of any populous area, and the apparent placing of the body in a creek, the jury might at this point fairly conclude that the death of Delk was caused by a criminal agency, and that the agency responsible (whoever it was) had premeditatedly, maliciously, and deliberately perpetrated the killing. It is not contended that there was anything in the record to show or tend to show mitigation, provocation, or justification for the killing.

In addition to the facts and circumstances which immediately surrounded the killing, there is additional evidence which points toward premeditation and toward the defendant.

It could be concluded that the defendant was either acquainted with Delk, or that he was familiar with his habits. The two lived at the same tourist court and trailer camp at 3115 South State Street in Salt Lake County (R. 136, 137, 138). The deceased was regular in his habits, usually leaving the court about 9 or 10 in the morning and returning about 5 or 6 p. m. (R. 139).

Next to the apartment of defendant was an unfinished

apartment. After the discovery of Delk's body investigators found on the floor of this vacant unit indications of blood and vomit (R. 260). The deceased's blood was type "A" in the International Blood Grouping system (R. 317). On the floor of the unfinished apartment were found a paint stick and some paper stained with blood of type "A" (R. 320, 321). There was evidence of blood on the floor, but it was present in such small quantities that it did not admit of typing. An expert testified that vomiting often accompanies a fracture of the skull (R. 358, 359).

From the automobile of Levi P. Delk the state took some pieces of rubber matting (R. 340) which appeared to be stained with blood. These stains "tested positive" for the possible presence of blood (R. 319). On the panel of the left door of the truck were similar stains, which also "tested positive" (R. 341, 267, 323). The truck had been washed on the inside prior to the time it was examined by investigating officers (R. 267).

It was brought out that the key possessed by defendant for his apartment fitted, also, the unfinished unit, next to his, in which the stains were found (R. 142).

The tourist court operators last saw deceased alive on the evening of April 29 (R. 140). On the morning of April 30, defendant, in the presence of a notary public, signed the name of Levi P. Delk to a title certificate of Delk's truck and stated that he was Delk (R. 167). Later the same day the defendant represented himself to be Delk and sold the Willys panel truck to a dealer (R. 207-212). Defendant was unsuccessful in his

attempt to sell a watch which had belonged to deceased (R. 237), so he then pawned the watch in his own name (R. 246). When his landlady visited him on the morning of May 3, defendant was upset (R. 183).

The record contains evidence that while defendant was awaiting trial he began preparations for an escape from the Salt Lake County jail in which he was confined (R. 345-358).

The above is a summary of the bulk of the state's evidence on which conviction was based. The record does, however, disclose certain other facts and circumstances which might have been considered by the jury. We rely upon the following cases and propositions of law to show that the jury was justified in finding that defendant coldly, premeditatedly, maliciously, and deliberately, murdered Levi P. Delk.

The defense has argued at some length on the difference between express and implied malice, and the degree of murder which must be found where one or the other is shown. And while we feel that our statute sufficiently defines the elements of each degree so that these common law distinctions are superseded, we would like to point out that express malice was shown in this case.

The difference between express malice and implied malice is of necessity a difference in the *degree* of malice shown, and not a difference in the type of evidence upon which the proof is based. In 1 Wharton's Criminal Law (11th Ed.), Sec. 145, we find the following statement:

"The older English text-books distinguish between 'malice express' and 'malice implied.' This, however, as

is elsewhere shown, cannot be sustained. Our *only way* of proving malice is by inferring it from circumstances. Even should a party, when examined on the stand, say, 'I did the act maliciously,' the question would still remain, how far the statement is to be believed. The mode of proof is not demonstration, but inference."

Our statute in effect adopts this view. Express malice is that malice in which there is manifested a deliberate intention unlawfully to take the life of a fellow creature. But, still under the statute, the *law* will imply malice where there is shown an unlawful killing and no considerable provocation appears; *or* where the circumstances surrounding the killing show an abandoned and malignant heart. There is nothing in the statute to indicate that express malice must be manifested by words or statements, or acts of preparation.

We feel that this should answer the technical nicety of distinction between types of malice. With this gone, the attack on the sufficiency of the evidence must be based upon the idea that there was simply not that *quantum* of evidence which is necessary to sustain the verdict. It is well settled that a conviction for first degree murder can be had on circumstantial evidence alone.

People v. Howard, 211 Cal. 322, 295 Pac. 333, 71 A. L. R. 1385, supports the contention of the defendant that where malice is "implied" it is second degree murder. But an examination of the cases cited in the Howard opinion shows that *express malice* may be *inferred*. One of the cases cited therein is People v. Bellon, 180 Cal. 706, 182 Pac. 420. It is used to support the statement that "if the act is preceded by, and be

the result of, a concurrence of will, deliberation and intent, the crime of first degree murder is proved."

In *People v. Bellon* the defendant had pleaded guilty to a charge of murder. California law required the court to determine the degree. It was shown that the defendant had committed a violent assault upon his wife; and when the deceased, his mother-in-law, attempted to interfere, defendant slashed her throat with a razor. The California Supreme Court, in answer to the contention that the elements of first degree murder were not shown, said:

"It is difficult to attribute any other design than that of killing to one who knowingly strikes at the throat of another with a sharp razor with such force and strength as to cause death."

Another California case concerned with the sufficiency of circumstantial evidence is *People v. Peete*, 54 Cal. App. 333, 202 Pac. 51 (hearing denied by Supreme Court November 25, 1921). There the body of deceased was discovered some four months after the killing. Defendant had been a tenant in a house owned by deceased, and in which the body was found. A physician testified that the deceased was probably killed by a bullet wound, though it was possible that death was caused by strangulation. Defendant was a small woman and deceased a 200-pound man. After discovery of the body it was learned that defendant had sold some jewelry of the deceased. After the defendant had sublet the house to another, a pistol was found in one of the closets. Defendant had made some inconsistent statements to police officers. There was no direct evidence of

malice, premeditation, or deliberation. Yet the California Court of Appeal (and the Supreme Court) upheld a conviction of murder in the first degree. Said the Court of Appeal:

"It is the general, if not universal, rule that where, as here, the evidence is entirely circumstantial, and no claim of any mitigating circumstances, justification, or excuse for the killing is advanced by the accused, the jury, from the nature of the wound inflicted, from the character of the weapon which the nature of the wound indicates was used, from the acts and conduct of the accused, and all the attendant and surrounding facts may infer that the deceased was unlawfully killed by the accused, with malice aforethought, as a result of a deliberate and premeditated purpose to kill, and so inferring, the jury under such circumstances, may be warranted in returning a verdict of murder in the first degree. If a different rule prevailed, then, as was said in *People v. Mahatch*, 148 Cal. 203, 82 Pac. 779, 'secret murders could rarely be punished by the infliction of the highest penalty.' * * *

See *State v. Dickson*, 78 Mo. 447. The question of the degree of the crime is exclusively for the jury, and their determination will not be disturbed when there is any evidence to support it. *People v. Machuca*, 158 Cal. 64, 109 Pac. 886. We think that the circumstances disclosed by the evidence are ample to support the inference that the killing was unlawful, was done with malice aforethought, and was willful, deliberate and premeditated. * * *

People v. Mahatch, 148 Cal. 203, 82 Pac. 779, cited in the opinion, *supra*, was another case of an unwitnessed killing. The killer and the killed had apparently been friends prior to the homicide. In upholding the first degree murder verdict, the California Supreme Court said:

"The jury, having found that the only extenuating circumstances which he interposed had no existence in fact, and no claim of any circumstances of mitigation, justification or excuse for the killing being advanced, had a right to infer from the character of the weapon used, the nature of the wound inflicted, and the acts and conduct of the accused, the existence of a deliberate purpose on his part to kill the deceased when the fatal blow was struck, and, so inferring, were warranted in returning a verdict therefrom for murder in the first degree. This is the general, it may be said the universal, rule. * * *

In *People v. Davis*, 8 Utah 412, 32 Pac. 670, the Utah Supreme Court held sufficient a pleading which omitted the allegation that there was an intent to kill. It was said there that the intent could be inferred from the facts pleaded, and that it was difficult to comprehend, from the instrument used, the fierceness of the assault, the manner and place of inflicting the wounds, and the instantly fatal result, that the defendant intended to commit any crime except first degree murder.

In *People v. Halliday*, 5 Utah 467, 17 Pac. 118, the court was called upon to consider the elements of murder in the first degree. The opinion adopted the language of the Pennsylvania case of *Keenan v. Commonwealth*, 44 Pa. St. 55, as follows:

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